Electronically Filed Jun 06 2017 04:51 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

PAUL PAWLIK;

No.: 71055

vs.

SHAYNG-FENN DENG; LINDA HSIANG-YU CHIANG DENG, TRUSTEES OF THE SHYANG-FENN AND LINDA HSIANG-YU CHIANG DENG REVOCABLE TRUST DATED AUGUST 18, 2006; VANETTA APPLEYARD, TREASURER OF THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS; AND THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION,

Respondents.

Appellant,

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JAMES M. WALSH Nevada State Bar No. 796 ANTHONY WALSH Nevada State Bar No. 14128 WALSH, BAKER & ROSEVEAR. 9468 Double R Blvd, Suite A Reno, Nevada 89521 (775) 853-0883 Attorneys for Appellant PAUL PAWLIK

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure ("NRAP") 3A(b)(1). The district court entered final judgment on July 13, 2016, granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and denying Plaintiff's Application for Writ of Mandamus. (AA0286.) Pawlik timely filed and served a Notice of Appeal on August 18, 2016. (AA0297.) An Order Reinstating Briefing was entered by this Court on March 8, 2017, directing appellants to file and serve the opening brief and appendix within 90 days of the Order.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to this Court's Order Reinstating Briefing entered on March 8, 2017, the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada presumptively retains this matter. This Court has issued no orders routing this matter to the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Was service of a Notice of Expiration of Redemption Period prior to the expiration of the two year period of redemption under NRS 271.595 premature and ineffective, so as to cause Appellant's entire action to fail?

2. Does NRS 271.595(3) - (4) contains mandatory time triggers as to when service of a Notice of Expiration of Redemption Period may be made?

3. Were Respondents prejudiced by the timing of service of the Notice of Expiration of Redemption Period?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The real property at issue in this case was purchased by Appellant Pawlik on January 27, 2014 at a duly noticed and authorized sale conducted by the Treasurer of the City of Las Vegas after the former owners (Respondent Deng) defaulted on special assessments and entered into delinquency. (AA0002.)

On January 7, 2016, Appellant Pawlik prepared and sent a Notice of Expiration of Redemption Period and of Intent of Owner of Certificate of Sale to Demand Deed to Real Property to Respondent Deng's last known address. (AA0003, AA0014.) The period of redemption was set to expire on January 26, 2016. (AA0002.) After unsuccessfully mailing notice to Appellee Deng, Appellant Pawlik published notice until January 27, 2016. (AA0003.) On March 14, 2016, Appellant Pawlik applied to the Treasurer for the issuance of the deed. The Treasurer refused and continues to refuse to issue the Deed. (AA0004.)

Pursuant to NRS 34.160 Appellant Pawlik applied for a Writ of Mandamus from the district court on April 25, 2016. (AA0004.) The Application requested that the City of Las Vegas and/or Vanetta Appleyard as Treasurer discharge its legal obligation to issue a deed to real property pursuant to NRS 271.595.

(AA0004, AA0046.) Thereafter, Appellant's Motion for Writ of Mandamus was denied and Respondent's Motion to Dismiss was granted. (AA0003, AA0016.) The district court found that Appellant Pawlik improperly made notice of intent to take property and demand on Respondent Deng prior to the expiration of the redemption period pursuant to NRS 271.595(4). (AA0317.) The trial court further held that because the notice Appellant Pawlik provided to Respondent Deng occurred before the expiration of the redemption period, notice was therefore deficient, causing Appellant's entire action to fail. (AA0317.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. At all times mentioned herein, Appellant Pawlik is the owner of certain real property located in the city of Las Vegas, county of Clark, State of Nevada and commonly known as 10669 Royal View Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada, Clark County Assessor's Parcel Number (APN) 137-25-314-020 (the "Property") and more particularly described as follows:

Lot Three-Hundred Seventy-Four (374) Block C of Chardonnay #61 by Lewis Homes as shown by map thereof on file recorded in Book 78 of Plats, Page 77, in the office of the County Recorder, Clark County, Las Vegas, Nevada.

Subject To: Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, Reservations, Rights, Rights of Way and Easements now of record. (AA0002.)

2. Respondents Shyang-Fenn Deng and Linda Hsiang-Yu Chiang Deng, trustees of the Shayng-Fenn and Linda Hsiang-Yu Chiang Deng revocable trust dated August 18, 2006 are former owners of the real property described above. (AA0002.)

3. Respondent Vanetta Appleyard is the Treasurer of the City of Las Vegas and is being sued herein in her official capacity. (AA0002.)

4. Respondent The City of Las Vegas is a political subdivision of the State of Nevada. (AA0002.)

5. Pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes Chapter 271, a duly noticed and authorized sale of the property after default of a special assessment was conducted by Vanetta Appleyard as Treasurer and/or The City of Las Vegas on January 27, 2014 and the real property was sold to Kevin Love or Paul Pawlik for the former owners' failure to cure the delinquency and pay assessments. (AA0002.)

6. The property was sold for the full amount of the assessment due, including interest, penalties and costs totaling \$1,996.62 on January 27, 2014. (AA0002.)

7. After sale a Sheriff's Certificate of Sale was issued to Kevin Love or Paul Pawlik pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 271 of the Nevada Revised

4

Statutes (NRS). Said Certificate of Sale was recorded February 4, 2014 as Instrument No. 201402040000939, Official Records of Clark County. (AA0002.)

8. Pursuant to recorded Assignment of Certificate of Sale, Kevin Love did assign all of his right, title and interest in said Certificate of Sale to Paul Pawlik. Said Assignment was recorded February 21, 2014 as Instrument No. 201402210001266, Official Records of Clark County. (AA0002.)

9. NRS 271.595 grants the owners a two-year redemption period and if no redemption is made within said period the Treasurer, herein Vanetta Appleyard, upon demand of the purchaser and the surrender to the Treasurer of the Certificate of Sale and after 60 days' notice to the former owner must issue a Deed to the holder of the Certificate. (AA0003.)

10. NRS 271.595 states that the notice to the former owner must be given either by personal service or if an owner is not a resident of the State of Nevada or cannot be found after diligent search, the notice may be given by publication. (AA0003.)

11. On or about January 7, 2016, Pawlik did cause to be prepared a Notice of Expiration of Redemption Period and of Intent of Owner of Certificate of Sale to Demand Deed to Real Property described herein. (AA0003.)

5

12. Pawlik did attempt personal service upon Respondents in the state of Nevada at the address of the property in question and various other addresses all unsuccessfully. After said service attempts it was determined that Respondents had moved out of the state of Nevada. (AA0003.)

13. Thereafter, Pawlik did cause to be published in the Las Vegas Review Journal the Notice of Expiration of Redemption Period with the final publication date being January 27, 2016. (AA0003.)

14. Pawlik did further attempt service of the Notice of Expiration of Redemption Period upon Respondents Deng at the last known address in Aiken, South Carolina. Said Notice was returned to sender as not deliverable as addressed and unable to forward. (AA0003.)

15. Thereafter, on or about March 14, 2016, pursuant to the provision of NRS 271.595, Pawlik did make application to Respondent Vanetta Appleyard for the issuance of a Deed pursuant to the provisions of NRS 271.595(4). (AA0003.)

16. Appleyard accepted the Application for Deed on March 14, 2016 through her authorized representative Adrian Ramirez. (AA0004.)

17. Since that time, Appleyard has failed and refused and continues to fail and refuse to issue the Deed as required by Chapter 271 of the Nevada Revised

6

Statutes and has in fact informed Pawlik that she intended to allow redemption of the property by former owners. (AA0004.)

18. On April 6, 2016, Respondent Deng attempted to redeem by making payments to the City of Las Vegas. (AA0103, AA0146.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

NRS 271.595 contains mandatory provisions delineating a two-year period of redemption and 60 days' notice before demand can be made upon the treasurer for execution of a deed. Appellant Pawlik strictly complied with the provisions of the statute by not making demand upon the treasurer until after the period of redemption had run. Appellant Pawlik also waited to make the above demand until after 60 days of serving Respondent Deng with Notice of Expiration of Redemption Period.

Alternatively, NRS 271.595 contains both mandatory and directory language. Appellant Pawlik, still strictly complied with the mandatory provisions of the statute and substantially complied with the statute's directory provisions by serving Notice of Expiration of Redemption on Respondent Deng during the final month of the two-year redemption period. Doing so satisfies both the statute's warning purpose and due process safeguards that notice must be reasonably calculated under all the circumstances to apprise the recipient of the pendency of an action that affects his or her right to property.

Courts will also forgive slight deviations in notice requirement timing, especially if notice is served early, to the extent that it does not prejudice the receiving party. Here, Appellant Pawlik's service of the Notice if Expiration of Redemption Period warned Respondent Deng of the imminent expiration of time to redeem, and did so in a manner that did not cut off or abridge Respondent's rights. Rather, Respondent's complaint is essentially that there was too much notice.

Pursuant to each alternative analysis above, the fact remains that Respondent Deng did not redeem until well after expiration of the two-year redemption period, well after 60 days of notice, and also well after any combination of two years plus 60 days of notice, depending on how this Court interprets NRS 271.595. Appellant Pawlik, on the other hand, complied with the protective two-year period, perfected proper notice, and made a timely demand upon the treasurer for execution of the deed in his favor.

As such, it is respectfully requested that this Court reverse the trial court's Order Granting Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, and in so doing remand with instructions that Appellant's Motion for Writ of Mandamus be granted consistent with this Court's holding.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The issue present in this appeal is purely a question of law, specifically one of statutory construction. The review by this Court is therefore de novo. *Leven v. Frey*, 123 Nev. 399, 402 168 P.3d 712, 713 (2007) (reviewing issues of statutory construction de novo); *see also International Game Tech. v. Dist. Ct.*, 124 Nev. 193, 198, 179 P.3d 556, 559 (2008); *Markowitz v. Saxon Special Servicing*, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 69, 310 P.3d 569, 572 (2013); *Harris Assocs. v. Clark County Sch. Dist.*, 119 Nev. 638, 641, 81 P.3d 532, 534 (2003).

B. Service of Notice of Expiration of Redemption May Properly Occur During the Two Year Period of Redemption Under NRS 271.595.

NRS 271.595(1)(a)-(b) in pertinent part states:

1. Any property sold for an assessment, or any installment thereof, is subject to redemption by the former owner, or grantee, mortgagee, heir or other representative of the former owner:

(a) If there was a permanent residential dwelling unit or any other significant permanent improvement on the property at the time the sale was held pursuant to NRS 271.555, as determined by the governing body, **at any time within 2 years**;

...after the date of the certificate of sale[.] [emphasis added]

NRS 271.595(3) states:

3. If no redemption is made within the period of redemption as determined pursuant to subsection 1, the treasurer shall, **on demand of the purchaser** or the purchaser's assigns, and the surrender to the treasurer of the certificate of sale, **execute** to the purchaser or the purchaser's assigns **a deed to the property**. **No deed may be executed until the holder of the certificate of sale has notified the owners of the property that he or she holds the certificate, and will demand a deed therefor.** The notice must be given by personal service upon the owner. However, if an owner is not a resident of the State or cannot be found within the State after diligent search, the notice may be given by publication. The notice and return thereof, with the affidavit of the person, or in the case of the municipality, of the clerk, claiming a deed, showing that service was made, must be filed with the treasurer. [emphasis added]

NRS 271.595(4) states:

4. If redemption is not made within 60 days after the date of service, or the date of the first publication of the notice, as the case may be, the holder of the certificate of sale is entitled to a deed. The deed must be executed only for the property described in the certificate, and after payment of all delinquent taxes and special assessments, or installments thereof, whether levied or assessed before or after the issuance of the certificate of sale. A deed may be issued to any municipality for the face amount of the certificate of sale, plus accrued interest from the date of sale to the date of the execution of the deed at a rate of not exceeding 1 percent per month.[emphasis added]

1. Appellant strictly complied with the plain language of NRS 271.595.

Respondents seek to expand the interpretation of NRS 271.595 to read in mandatory time triggers on behalf of the purchaser's application procedure. The mandatory time contained within the statutes is the limitation upon the redemptioners timeframe within in which the prior owner may redeem or be barred from his ability to do so. The Nevada Supreme Court has dealt with these timing issues before. In *Leven v. Fray*, cited supra, it was held that the statutory timeframes for judgment renewal were mandatory. This Court in *Leven* analyzed mandatory timeframes within the context of NRS 17.214. Specifically, this Court concluded that:

Under the statute's express terms, then, a judgment may be renewed by filing an affidavit with the district court **within ninety days** before the judgment's expiration, recording the affidavit **within three days** of filing, and serving the affidavit on the debtor **within three days** of filing.

Generally, when a statute's language is plain and its meaning clear, the courts will apply that plain language. Here, NRS 17.214's mandatory requirements of filing, recording, and service of the affidavit are plainly set forth and must be followed for judgment renewal.

In particular, NRS 17.214(1)(a)'s requirement, that an affidavit of renewal be filed with the court clerk **within 90 days** before the judgment expires by limitation, **is unambiguous**. An action on a judgment or its renewal must be commenced **within six years** under NRS 11.190(1)(a); thus a judgment expires by limitation in six years. **The requirement that an affidavit be filed within ninety days of the expiration of this six-year period provides a clear first step in the procedure for renewing judgments.** [emphasis added]

Leven, 123 Nev. 399, 168 P.3d at 715. Further, this Court concluded that:

Generally, in determining whether strict or substantial compliance is required, courts examine the statute's provisions, as well as policy and equity considerations. Substantial compliance may be sufficient "to avoid harsh, unfair or absurd consequences." Under certain procedural statutes and rules, however, failure to strictly comply with time requirements can be fatal to a case. In other contexts, a court's requirement for strict or substantial compliance may vary depending on the specific circumstances. This court, however, has never indicated that substantial compliance with specific timing requirements is sufficient in the context of recording and service under NRS 17.214. To the contrary, since the statute includes no builtin grace period or safety valve provision, **its explicit three-day language leaves little room for judicial construction or 'substantial compliance'' analysis**. [citations omitted] [emphasis added]

Id. at 718-719. This Court found that Frey did not serve the affidavit of renewal until October 30, 2002, and did not record the affidavit until November 4, 2002, well beyond the three-day requirement for recording and service under the facts. *Id.* at 714. Because Frey did not timely record and serve his affidavit of renewal, he did not comply with NRS 17.214(1)(b) and (3), and thus he failed to successfully renew the judgment in strict compliance with the statute's mandatory language. *Id.*

Leven, however, is a case of missed deadlines and late service in the context of clear mandatory language. Therefore, *Leven* is factually distinguishable from this matter because Respondents, here, have complained of receiving notice too early, and potentially too much notice. As discussed below, courts are often lenient in terms of early notice, to the extent that it does not prejudice the party receiving notice. (See sections B. 2.; C.) *Leven* is also distinguishable from this matter because, unlike NRS 17.214 in *Leven*, NRS 271.595, here, has clear mandatory provisions, but lacks explicit, mandatory language connecting the two-year mandate to the 60 days' notice mandate.

On the other hand, as set forth in *Markowitz v. Saxon Special Services*, cited supra, a statute may contain both mandatory and directory provisions. *Markowitz*, 310 P.3d 569 at 571. There this Court dealt with a bank's failure to timely file an appraisal or broker's price opinion as required by the foreclosure mediation statutes. Id. at 570. To determine if the bank's late filing constituted compliance with directory provisions of the statute, the court noted that the analysis will be whether the provisions in question, as to form and content, dictate who must take action and what information that party is required to provide. Id. at 573. This Court found the time limits and information directory and allowed late filing. Id at 574. This Court, however, noted that because they do not implicate notice, form and content-based rules are typically directory and may be satisfied by substantial compliance. Id. at 572, citing Einhorn v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 69, 290 P.3d 249, 251 (2012).

Here the statute at issue implicates both notice and time limits, thus generally militating in favor of a plain reading analysis with mandatory provisions under *Leven*. However, a plain language analysis of mandatory provisions in NRS 271.595 shows that service of the 60 days' Notice of Expiration of Redemption Period is not mandated to occur only after the two-year redemption period.

The two-year time limit for redemption under NRS 271.595 is clear and must be followed. However, relating the two-year redemption period to the 60 days' notice provision is the essence of this appeal. The statute is silent on whether a certificate holder must wait until the two years have expired to serve a potential redemptionor with notice of expiration and intent to take. Indeed, the statute states that "[i]f redemption is not made **within 60 days after the date of service**...the holder of the certificate of sale is entitled to a deed." NRS 271.595(4) [emphasis added]. Thus, the statue only references two timeframes: two years for redemption and, separately, 60 days' notice. The statute does not connect those two requirements with any explicit "shall" or "must" language dictating that notice can only be served after two years.

Rather, the "shall" language in the statute dictates that after the period of redemption, the treasurer **shall** on demand of the certificate holder execute a deed for the certificate holder after the period of redemption. NRS 271.595(3). In order for the certificate holder to properly make such a demand on the treasurer, the purchaser **must** have given redemptioners 60 days' notice.

Service of the 60 days' notice and demand upon the treasurer are therefore independent actions taken by certificate holder. The only intricacy is that notice has to take place before demand and demand can only happen after two years. As such, a certificate holder should be allowed to give notice during or within 60 days before the two years have run, thus satisfying 60 days' notice requirement, which would allow the certificate holder to demand the deed from the treasurer on the exact date the two-year redemption period expires. In this case, Appellant's 60 day notice spilled over the final portion of the two-year redemption period and into expired time, creating a safe zone for Respondents until March 14, 2016.

Under the law, a certificate holder could also allow two years to elapse and then, at his or her own peril, wait some amount of time after the two-year period and *then* serve 60 days' notice, thus extending the safety zone for redemptioners indefinitely.

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