Electronically Filed Jul 07 2017 09:34 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court NEVADA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

PAUL PAWLIK,

No. 71055

Appellant,

v.

SHYANG-FENN DENG AND LINDA HSIANG-YU CHIANG DENG, TRUSTEES OF THE SHYANG-FENN AND LINDA HSIANG-YU CHIANG DENG REVOCABLE TRUST DATED AUGUST 18, 2006; VANETTA APPLEYARD, TREASUER OF THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS; THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, a Political subdivision,

Appellees.

APPELLEES' ANSWERING BRIEF

STEVEN MACK, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 4000 BLACK & LOBELLO 10777 W. Twain Ave., Third Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 (702) 869-8801 Attorneys for Appellees

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

PAUL PAWLIK,

No. 71055

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

ARGUMENT

I. <u>Applicable Law</u>

A. The Nevada Constitution and Applicable Statutes, Generally

Article 1, Section 8(5) of the Nevada Constitution states: "No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law."

In this case we are speaking directly of the deprivation of the Appellees' real property, and the material requirement for the due process of law.¹⁰

Pursuant to NRS 271.555 and NRS 271.595, et seq. the Appellees are entitled to proper due process and notice of the taking of the home.

B. NRCP 12(B)(5) Standard

A complaint should be dismissed when it fails to "state a claim upon which relief can be granted."¹¹ Even with all beneficial inferences made on behalf of the non-moving party, dismissal is proper where the allegations are insufficient to establish the elements of the claim for relief. When a party can prove no set of

¹⁰ See, J.D. Construction v. IBEX Int'l Group, 126 Nev. 366, 376, 240 P.3d 1033, 1040 (2010) wherein this Court similarly found that "[a] mechanic's lien is a "taking" in that the property owner is deprived of a significant property interest, which entitles the property owner to federal and state due process. *Connolly Develop., Inc. v. Sp. Ct. of Merced Cty.*, 17 Cal.3d 803, 132 Cal.Rptr. 477, 553 P.2d 637, 644 (1976)."

⁹ AA0003:8-11, Appellant's Opening Brief, Page 2

facts that would entitle him or her to relief in the complaint or claim it should be properly dismissed.¹²

The test for determining whether a claimant's allegations are sufficient is whether (i) they give fair notice of the nature and basis of a legally sufficient claim and the relief requested,¹³ and (ii) the claim for relief is "plausible on its face."¹⁴

This Court has stated that the district courts should accept the allegations in the complaint as true and draw all inferences in Plaintiff's favor.¹⁵ The complaint should be dismissed only if it appears *beyond a doubt* (not beyond a reasonable doubt) that Plaintiff could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle it to relief.¹⁶ To satisfy that test, Plaintiff "must set forth sufficient <u>facts</u> to establish all

¹² Cohen v. Mirage Resorts, Inc., 119 Nev. 1, 32, 62 P.3d 720, 740 (2003) and NRCP 12(b)(5).

¹³ See, e.g., Ravera v. City of Reno, 100 Nev. 68, 70, 675 P.2d 407, 408 (Nev. 1984); Western States Constr. v. Michoff, 108 Nev. 931, 936, 840 P.2d 1220, 1223 (Nev. 1992).

¹⁴ Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 1974 (2007). See Garcia v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 3, 293 P.3d 869, 871 n.2 (Nev. 2013). Nevertheless, Nevada treats cases interpreting the federal rules as persuasive because the state and federal versions of NRCP 12(b) are nearly identical. See Executive Mgmt. Ltd. v. Ticor Title Ins. Co. 118 Nev. 46, 53, 38 P.3d 872, 876 (2002). Some examples of Eighth District Court judges applying Twombly exist. See, e.g., Levy v. Funding, 2010 WL 7460207 (Nev. Dist. Ct. 2010) (unpublished). Here, even under the pre-Twombly approach, the Appellant has no valid claim for relief, based upon the facts in the verified complaint.

¹⁵ Seput v. Lacayo, 122 Nev. 499, 501, 134 P.3d 733, 734 (2006).

¹⁶ Blackjack Bonding v. Las Vegas Mun. Ct., 116 Nev. 1213, 1217, 14 P.3d 1275, 1278 (2000). See also, Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of North Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 181 P.3d 670 (2008) footnote 6. "Our prior cases have not been completely consistent in applying the standard of review for failure to state a claim upon

necessary elements of a claim for relief."¹⁷ "Dismissal is proper where the allegations are insufficient to establish the elements of a claim for relief."¹⁸

Despite the extraordinarily high bar, *the Appellant had (and has) a severe deficiency both factually and legally.* And the district court agreed, interpreting the statute to accord the Appellees' 60 days' notice *after* the 2-year redemption period. Further, because the Appellant failed to provide proper notice, and never corrected the notice, the district court properly found in favor of the Appellees.¹⁹

II. Application Of The Law To The Facts

A. Statutes Stating Specific Times Are To Be Strictly Construed

"Generally, when a statute's language is plain and its meaning clear, the court's will apply that plain language."²⁰ "Under certain procedural statutes and rules...failure to strictly comply with time requirements can be fatal to a case."²¹ "Although statutes allowing for a "reasonable time" to act are subject to

which relief can be granted. The appropriate standard requires a showing beyond a doubt. To the extent that these cases required a showing of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, they are disavowed."

¹⁷ Conway v. Circus Circus Casinos, Inc., 116 Nev. 870, 875, 8 P.3d 837,840 (Nev. 2000) (citations omitted) (emphasis added); *Stockmeier v. Nevada Dep't of Corr.*, 124 Nev. 30, 183 P.3d 133, 135 (Nev. 2008).

¹⁸ *Hampe v. Foote*, 118 Nev. 405, 408, 47 P.3d 438, 439 (Nev. 2002); *Bergmann v. Boyce*, 109 Nev. 670, 675, 856 P.2d 560, 563 (Nev. 1993).

¹⁹ AA0293-295

²⁰ Leven v. Frey, 123 Nev. 399, 403, 168 P.3d 712, 715 (2007) quoting *International Game Tech v. Dist. Ct.*, 122 Nev. 132, 152, 127 P.3d 1088, 1102 (2006).

²¹ *Id.* at 407, 123 P.3d at 717 (cites omitted).

interpretation for substantial compliance, **those with set time limitations are not.**^{*22} This Court has stated unequivocally that requiring strict compliance with specific timing requirements "[i]s consistent with the general tenet that "time and manner" requirements are strictly construed.^{*23} In this case, it is especially true, since we are dealing with statutes that govern real property, and real property is unique and the due process to deprive a property owner of their real property is protected by the Nevada Constitution.²⁴

Pursuant to NRS 271.595(1)(a), a property is subject to redemption "[i]f there was a permanent residential dwelling unit or any other significant permanent improvement on the property at the time the sale was held pursuant to NRS 271.555, as determined by the governing body, at any time within 2 years . . . after the date of the certificate of sale "

Then pursuant to NRS 271.595(3), if no redemption is made within the period as determined by NRS 271.595(1)²⁵ *then* the purchaser may surrender the certificate of sale and receive a deed; however, demand for the deed from the treasurer can only occur *after* the holder of the certificate of sale has notified the owners that he will demand the deed therefor.

²² Id. at 407-408, 123 P.3d at 718 (cites omitted) (emphasis added).

²³ *Id.* at 408, 123 P.3d at 718 (cites omitted).

²⁴ Article 1, Section 8(5) of the Nevada Constitution

Pursuant to NRS 271.595(4), *after the redemption period has expired*, then the holder of the certificate must provide the owners 60 days' notice of its intent to take the property, which gives the owners an additional 60 days to redeem the

property.

Specifically, NRS 271.595(3) in pertinent part states:

If no redemption is made within the period of redemption as determined pursuant to subsection 1, the treasurer shall, on demand of the purchaser or the purchaser's assigns, and the surrender to the treasurer of the certificate of sale, execute to the purchaser or the purchaser's assigns a deed to the property. No deed may be executed until the holder of the certificate of sale has notified the owners of the property that he or she holds the certificate, and will demand a deed therefor. (emphasis added)

NRS 271.595(4) states in pertinent part:

If redemption is not made within 60 days after the date of service, or the date of the first publication of the notice, as the case may be, the holder of the certificate of sale is entitled to a deed.

Pursuant to the statute, if no redemption is made within the period, then

the purchaser can make a demand upon the City for a deed (only after the 2-year redemption period has run), but must give the homeowner a 60-day notice. This begs the question, how can a certificate holder give 60 days' notice, until the certificate holder knows whether the owners of the property have redeemed the property within the initial 2-year redemption period. The additional 60-day notice

²⁵ This property is the Appellees' retirement home.

would have no meaning if the certificate holder could provide its notice within the 2-year redemption period. The statutes would be incongruous to be read that way.

By the Appellant's argument, a certificate holder could give 60 days' notice at the beginning of the 2-year redemption period, and then simply ask for the deed at the end of the two years. Following that logic, the 60-day notice would be meaningless.

The Statute's clear language is, (1) the initial period of redemption (two years) runs, (2) the certificate holder notifies the owners that he holds the certificate and will make a demand for the deed (this is the 60 days' notice), and (3) after expiration of 60 days the certificate holder is entitled to the deed, provided that redemption has not been made within this additional 60-day period.

The only reasonable interpretation is that once the 2-year redemption period has lapsed, the certificate holder (i.e. purchaser – Appellant in this matter) must provide the owners with another 60 days to redeem the property. The certificate holder would not know if he can demand the deed until after the two years has run and the owners failed to redeem the property in accordance with NRS 271.595.

In other words, a purchaser of the certificate cannot obtain the right to ask for the deed until *after* the redemption period. Then, and only then, can a certificate holder provide the 60-day notice to the owners of its intent to obtain a deed, giving the owners another 60 days to make redemption.

10

In this case, the 2-year period ran on January 26, 2016, however, the purchaser began making demand prior to the expiration of the redemption period, beginning January 7, 2016.

The only issue this court needs to address is the timing of the notice by Appellant. The owners, per statute, should have no less than two years and two months (plus time for service) to redeem the property.²⁶

The 60 days' notice by the certificate holder can occur at any time after the two years has run, *but not before*, otherwise, the statute would be without meaning.²⁷ A municipality is not supposed to issue a deed until after two years plus the 60-day notice period has run. How can a purchaser let the owners know that it is going to ask for a deed until the certificate holder knows that the property was not redeemed with the 2-year redemption period? The statute would simply say that the purchaser must provide at least 60 days' notice prior to the end of the redemption period of its intent to take the property.

²⁶ The 60-day notice could be given the day immediately following the expiration of the 2-year redemption period, however, the Certificate Holder could conceivably wait longer as the statute does not provide a maximum time period after the 2-year redemption period. Further, it takes time for service, so practically speaking, the purchaser redemption period could be more than the 60 days.

²⁷ As a practical matter, this interpretation is the only one that makes sense, because there could be multiple purchasers of several SID payments. No priority exists as to each of the certificate purchasers as compared to the other, and it is the

Instead, the statutes state (and Appellant agrees in its facts in the complaint wherein they state, "and if no redemption is made...and after 60 days; notice"²⁸), that the 60 days' notice comes *after* the redemption period has run. The first requirement is that the redemption had not occurred during the first two years. The second requirement is that the 60 days' notice be given after the certificate holder confirms no payment was made during that time.

(1) <u>Wyoming Statute Nearly Identical</u>

Appellant's foray into substantial compliance is a red herring,²⁹ particularly in light of the Wyoming statute from which the Nevada Statute was derived, and a Wyoming case, which states specifically as to how the statute is to be interpreted.

The wording in the Wyoming Statute Section 15-6-418, in pertinent part, is nearly identical to Nevada's statute for forfeiture:

(a) Any property sold for an assessment is subject to redemption by the former owner, or his grantee, mortgagee, heir or other representative at any time within two (2) years from the date of the sale, upon the payment to the treasurer for the purchaser of the amount for which the property was sold, with interest at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per year, together with all taxes and special assessments, interest, penalties, costs and other charges thereon paid by the purchaser at or since the sale, with like interest thereon. Unless written notice of taxes

first certificate holder to provide the owners the proper 60-day notice, and then request the deed, that gets it.

²⁸ AA0003:1-4

²⁹ Appellant's Opening Brief, Page 17-18, 22-23. *See also, Leven,* at 409, 719 and Footnote 31, wherein "...notice is "[a]n elementary and fundamental requirement of due process in any proceeding which is to be accorded finality." (cite omitted).

and assessments subsequently paid, and the amount thereof, is deposited with the city or town treasurer, property may be redeemed without their inclusion. On any redemption, the treasurer shall give to the redemptioner a certificate of redemption and pay over the amount received to the purchaser of the certificate of sale or his assigns. If property is not redeemed within the period of two (2) years, the treasurer, on demand of the purchaser or his assigns and the surrender to him of the certificate of sale, shall execute a deed for the property to the purchaser or his assigns. No deed may be executed until the holder of the certificate of sale has notified the owners of the property that he holds the certificate and that he will demand a deed therefor. The notice shall be given by personal service upon the owners. If the owners are nonresidents of the state or cannot be found within the state after diligent search, the notice may be given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation within the city or town once a week for three (3) successive weeks. The notice and return thereof, with the affidavit of the person, or in case of a city or town, of the comptroller or clerk, claiming a deed, showing that service was made, shall be filed with the treasurer. If property is not redeemed within sixty (60) days after the date of service, or the date of the first publication of the notice, the holder of the certificate of sale is entitled to a deed. The deed shall be executed only for the property described in the certificate, and after payment of all delinquent taxes and special assessments, or installments and certificates of delinquency or other certificates issued for special or local assessments, whether levied, assessed or issued before or after the issuance of the certificates of sale.

- ///
- | | |
- | | |
- / / /
- ///

Even the Appellant admits that the Wyoming Supreme Court, which interpreted the similar statute from which Nevada statutes are derived,³⁰ found that the 60-day window *is in addition* to the 2-year redemption period.³¹

In fact, in *Collier*, what the Appellant calls "dicta",³² was in fact the final summation of the decision, and a very clear statement of what notice was to be received and when.³³

(2) <u>Idaho Statute Not the Same as Nevada</u>

The Statute that Appellant refers to in its Opening Brief, and the statute that the Appellant wishes this Court to follow, is a different animal completely and has nothing to do with a third party purchasing a certificate or the ability of that third person to take someone else's real property.

In pertinent part Idaho Statute 50-1745 states:

The treasurer shall, at least one (1) month and not more than three (3) months before the expiration of the time of redemption of any property, serve or cause to be served, a written or printed, or partly written and partly printed notice on the person or persons in the actual possession or occupancy of such land or lots, and shall also, within the same time, serve upon or mail to, the person in whose name the same stands upon the assessment records in the county assessor's office, a copy of said notice; which notice shall state when the

³⁰https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/Library/LegHistory/LHs/1969/SB 074,1969.pdf

³¹ Collier v. Hilltop Nat. Bank, 920 P.2d 1241, 1242 (Wyo. 1996) See, Appellant's Opening Brief, Page 19.

 $^{^{32}}$ *Id*.

³³ Id.

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